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THE 

THREE BLACKBIRDS

For three hundred and ten years the Three Blackbirds has been a feature of the High Road in Leyton as a public house.  Over the years it catered for both thirsty travellers passing through and villagers alike.  That was until 2008 when it closed and to reopen as the Taj Mahal Function Suite, the result of changing fashions and a sign of the times.

This short account of one of our oldest inns
 was inspired by Mary Savell’s Historical Notes for The Three Blackbirds, which she compiled in 1964.  Mary was the Chief Librarian of the Borough of Leyton’s main library and wrote extensively on Leyton.  Her legacy was left to the Borough of Waltham Forest and then absorbed into the local archives, and for which we are all the richer. 

Although the sign is not unique there are few inns in England with the name of The Three Blackbirds.  In their History of Signboards
, the authors Larwood and Hotten conclude that the name refers to the Jacobites – King Charles II, King James II and Prince Rupert.  After the defeat of James II at the Battle of the Boyne in 1690, the Stuarts lay in waiting across the water in France. Despite their attempts to regain their throne all real chances died out after the unsuccessful Jacobite Rebellion of 1745.  Whether the sign of the Three Blackbirds stood as a rallying point close to London is conjecture.  But, we know there was a previously strong Catholic presence in Leyton.


                                                        

King Charles II






King James II
At the end of the 17th century the stage coach road out of London ran from Mile End to Stratford branched off along Angel Lane to Leyton.  Here it became the Leyton Street
 as it wound its way towards Walthamstow.  Just beyond the ancient Moyer’s Lane
 was the site of the soon to be built Ozler Charity School alongside which would stand the Three Blackbirds.

The earliest date attributed to the Three Blackbirds is 1698, when a Henry Wilder was shown as the occupier in the Rate Books.  Mary Savell was unable to match this to a previous entry and therefore assumed that it had just recently been built.  Although, it is possible that it may have simply been rebuilt with a different rateable value.  

The Three Blackbirds was probably owned by Walter Ryan, who appears in the Rate Books from Lady Day 1698 through to Michaelmas 1725.  This latter date was shortly before his death as he was buried at Leyton on 18th March 1726.  Prominent in local affairs Ryan was selected as Overseer of the Poor in 1705, although Joseph Bilton served for him.  He was also Surveyor of the Highways for Low Leyton in the same year.  He became Constable in 1709 and elected Churchwarden in 1712, where Thomas Pearson was to serve for him, but was dead by October and Ryan acted for the rests of the term.

Under Ryan’s ownership the first known licensee was Henry Wilder or Willder, who had arrived in Leyton in 1698 with a settlement certificate from the Parish of St Botolph’s in Bishopsgate
, thereby acknowledging that Henry and his wife, Sarah, belonged to that Parish.  He was shown in the Rate Books from Michaelmas 1698 through to Michaelmas 1705. 

Henry Wilder died and was buried on 16th December 1705.  The entry in the burial register reads as follows:

Henry Wilder, at ye three Blackbirds, innkeeper

In 1711 a Vestry meeting was first noted as being held in the Three Blackbirds
, in other years they were held at various Coffee Houses, until the construction of the Parish Workhouse.  Although from 1801 – 1842 the Court Baron of the Manor of Leyton Grange were held here.
His widow, Sarah Wilder, continued as mine host until her own death when she was buried on 5th September 1714.

The next licensee was Captain Thomas Green or Greene who is listed in the rate books from Michaelmas 1714 until Michaelmas 1726.  It was here that three children were born to Thomas and his wife, Elizabeth.

The licence now passed to Robert Jackson from Michaelmas 1726 to Lady Day 1733.  He was also rated for a coffee house which was said to be further along the main Leyton Street.  Robert Jackson was also the Constable for Low Leyton in 1730.

As the landowner, Walter Ryan, died intestate the property passed to his only child, Anne Cockayne.  Her husband was Richard Cockayne of Cockayne Hattley, in Bedfordshire, who certainly owned the tavern by 1730.  However, Richard Cockayne died the following year and his will was proved in 1732
, leaving his estates to Judith Cockayne, the daughter of Thomas Cockayne of Soham in Cambridgeshire.  This bequest was subject to a payment of £4000, the balance of Richard’s daughter Beatrice’s marriage agreement to John Harvey. 

Unfortunately, there is a gap in the rate books from 1733 until 1755.  However, from deeds relating to the ownership it would appear that Isabel Jackson took over as the licensee in 1738, when her husband Robert died.  He was buried on 29th April 1738.  Mary Savell was of the opinion that Isabel Jackson continued to run the business until at least 1763.

In 1731 the Leyton estates, which included the Three Blackbirds, was sold to Sir Richard Hopkins.  Hopkins was a Knight and Alderman of London, who had a country house, Lea Hall, in Capworth Street
.  He died intestate and children-less in 1736 and the estate was divided between the three Misses Hopkins, sisters of Sir Richard.  By 1749 the part of the estate including The Three Blackbirds had passed to Sir Edward Bellamy
, the eldest son of Mary Bellamy, one of Sir Richard Hopkins’ aunts.  It in turn had been bequeathed to his daughter, Ann, wife of George Lynn of Southwick Hall, Northamptonshire, whom she had married on 13th July 1734 at Walthamstow.  The deed of settlement, 1749, gave George Lynn the use of the estate during his lifetime and to his wife if she survived him.  On George Lynn’s death in 1758, his widow, Ann revoked the settlement, and in 1763 sold the Leyton estate to John Pardoe, esq., who was also the owner of the Manor of Leyton Grange.  

From time to time complaints were made to the Vestry regarding the nuisance of certain public houses.  In August 1754 it was noted in the Vestry minutes:

Complaint having been made to this Vestry that great mischief’s daily arise from Shuffle Board tables, Skittle & bowling alleys in this parish, it is ordered that the churchwardens do give notice to all the Publick Houses in this parish that if they do not remove such Shuffle boards, skittle and bowling alleys immediately, complaint shall be made thereof to the Justices in order to take away their licences.

And after such notice so given to the said Public Houses, the Churchwarden is empowered on conviction of anyone so offending to give the informer One Guinea on such conviction of the person so offending
.

And on 13th June 1757:

Ye great number of Alehouses in this parish, which we think greatly too numerous at present & which Alehouses by their number are forced for a maintenance to entertain and harbour all idle and strolling people, by which ye poor are encouraged in idleness and debauchery and our servants deluded from their business to ye great damage to our selves
.

The Vestry did request the justices to consider reducing the number of alehouses at the next licensing session and on no account to licence any new ones in the parish.  Certainly in this parish if an alehouse did close a new one opened up immediately in order not to lose the existing licence. 

There would appear to be a gap in the list of inn keepers from 1763 to 1766.  There is a possibility that somewhere between these two dates that a one Edward Goff ran the Three Blackbirds
. 

The next licensee who can be traced from the extant rate books is Thomas Abbot, who first appears in Lady Day 1775 and continued until Michaelmas 1782.  Although he does appear in the Poor Rate of 1766, assessed for £16, and rated for £1. 4s. 0d.
  The tavern then passed to Thomas Jones who continued to run the Blackbirds, as it was referred to when again it was rated for £1. 4s. 0d. until Lady Day 1783.  Within two years Jones became the licensee of the Lion & Key.

For the next few years the licence for the Three Blackbirds changed hands almost yearly, for what reason can only be guessed.  Thomas Jones was replaced by John Lloyd and his wife Ann Heath, whom he married 2nd May 1782 at St Mary’s Church, Leyton, from Michaelmas 1783 until Lady Day 1784.

From Michaelmas 1784 until Lady Day 1785, the licence was granted to a Mrs Stevens.  It then passed to John Peck or Pack from Michaelmas to Lady Day 1787.  It was very briefly taken over by Richard Bould and his wife Elizabeth at Michaelmas 1787.  Whether the death of their child, Richard, in January 1787 had a bearing on their decision, they departed and it passed to Edward Shepherd.

After the death of John Pardoe in 1798 the property was sold by order of the Court of Chancery.  John Pardoe had undertaken in 1786 to provide £20,000 as a marriage settlement for his son, John Pardoe and his wife Jane Oliver, but had not completed the payment - £8105 was still due when John Pardoe and his wife, Jane, both died in 1796, leaving five children, John, George, Maria, Frederick and Edward.  The Court’s Order was to secure their inheritance of the money due on their parents’ marriage settlement.  In a list of the property sold in 1798 appears:
“Lot 2.  A well-accustomed Public House in Layton, aforesaid, (freehold) known by the Sign of the Blackbirds, with stables, Yard and garden, let to Mr Proctor on a lease, which will expire at Christmas 1808, at the yearly rent of £16 per ann., and by him relet to Edward Shepherd.  Land Tax £1. 12s. containing about 1a 0r 38p.” 
 

Mr Thomas Proctor purchased the Three Blackbirds for £425.  Proctor was a brewer in Shoreditch having taken over Harwood’s Brewery in 1773.  It has been claimed that Richard Harwood was the first brewer to brew Porter.

The Shepherd family were to run the Three Blackbirds for the next twenty years, with their occupation stretching from Lady Day 1787 through to Lady Day 1808.  It was during this period that the artist, John Varley
, made a painting of the building which is shown on the front cover.  John Varley’s water-colour was entitled Leyton, Essex c1800 and the original is in the Bridgeman Art Gallery in Hull.  It is my conjecture that the view is of the Three Blackbirds.  The picture is certainly of the eastern side of High Street, looking towards Leyton Green as indicated by the shadows stretching across the dusty road.  Careful comparison with a similar view made in 1869 by J T Wilson confirms this assumption.  Both views show the house with a large tree in front and have two dormer windows.  Shaded by the tree is a front extension with one large window above.  Although the wicket fence has gone the building next door has a similar front sloping roof.

To some this must present a typical scene of an English country village at the very close of the eighteenth century.  But tragedy was no stranger to the Shepherds.

It is known that when Edward Shepherd and his wife, Mary, took over the licence they already had one child, a son William, born 30th August 1786.  Over the course of the next few years four more children were born in Leyton.  A daughter, Mary, named after her mother was baptised on 14th October 1787.  Two further daughters, Sarah and Elizabeth, were both born dead or died within hours of birth.   Another son, John, survived just into his teenage years.  There is no record of Mrs Mary Shepherd’s death nor her burial, but, by 1796 Edward is married to Elizabeth.  From what we assume to be his second marriage, a daughter, also Elizabeth, was born in 1796.  Of the five children from this second marriage two would succumb to infantile death.  Edward himself died and was buried on 24th June 1803.  Mrs Elizabeth Shepherd carried the business from Michaelmas 1803 to Lady Day 1808.

In 1805 Mrs Shepherd was called to give evidence at the Old Bailey at the trial of John Troy.  Troy was accused of trying to purchase several silk handkerchiefs by using a forged £5 bank-note.  When arrested in February he gave his name as John May of the Blackbird in Low Layton.  Elizabeth Shepherd was asked if she knew May to which she answered, No.   Had he lived there then she would surely have known him.  Twenty-eight-year-old Troy was subsequently found guilty and sentenced to death.  This may seem harsh, but a year earlier he had been acquitted at the Middlesex Assizes.  It was one brush too many with the law. 

At Michaelmas 1808 George Tanner became the new landlord along with his wife Elizabeth.  Their daughter Susanna was baptised on 24th April 1809, although her surname had been altered from that of “Turner”.  There followed two further children, a daughter Frances born 18th August 1810, but not baptised until 19th January 1812, and later buried in Sewardstone on 30th August 1820.  They also had a son, George, born 11th December 1811 and baptised on the same day as his sister.  He died aged just four and buried on 4th February 1815 at Leyton.

In the summer of 1817, the Tanners left and in November 1817:

Application having been this day made to this Vestry for a certificate for the purpose of an assignment of the house to a new tenant of the Blackbirds Public House, for the remainder of the current year, Mr Tanner having quitted the Parish by which application was refused.  Resolved – That a letter be written to the Magistrates at Ilford informing them that it is the wish of this Parish that the Blackbirds be suppressed as a public house, there being in their opinion a sufficient number of public houses in the village of Leyton without it
.

The Vestry’s opinion was seemingly disregarded as the licence was renewed and the Tanners were replaced albeit briefly by Benjamin Webb and by Christmas by Thomas White.  There must have been a compelling reason for the licensing authorities to disregard the Vestry.  We know that Benjamin Webb was an existing landowner and with his property fronting Moyer’s Lane and that Thomas White was almost certainly the proprietor of the brewery which stood opposite James Lane.  This must have convinced them to offer the licence for a short period to allow a suitable replacement to be found.  White carried on until Lady Day 1821, when the new licensee was Joseph Jay, who ran the inn from Michaelmas 1821 to Lady Day 1823.  The reason for giving up was probably due to ill health as a year later Joseph Jay was buried on 18th September 1824, aged 51 years.

Joseph Jay’s short term replacement was George Perrin or Perren who held the licence from Michaelmas 1823 for one year.

In spite of the Three Blackbirds having changed hands quite frequently, things were about to change, as the new landlord was a licensed victualler, John Wright.  He appears in the rate books from Lady Day 1825, and The Three Blackbirds would remain in the care of the same family a century later.  The 1831 Census whilst not showing the names lists the number of occupants.  There were six males and five females plus one male and one female servant.  Amongst the females may have been his widowed daughter, Anne Lidget. 

A report in the Chelmsford Chronicle gives an insight into the difficulties of running a public house.  On the 3rd March 1832 two patrons, William Padmore and Joseph Phillip, had been drinking all evening with another eight men who had left at closing time.  Padmore and Phillips refused to leave and demanded more beer which was refused.  Grabbing a poke and a stick they threatened the landlord, John Wright saying they would not leave unless they were served.  At this point two of the other men who had left and heard the commotion, returned.  Wright who was alone in the public house apart from his daughter and a boy felt alarmed and sent for the constable, Robert Reeves.  The men were arrested, Phillips was said to have been receiving parish relief and both men were of low character.

Following John Wright’s death and burial on 3rd November 1839, aged 65 years, the licence was extended to his executors.  Ann Lidget re-married to Robert Golding
, a coachman from Walthamstow, on 22nd September 1840.  The reference to Robert Golding is interesting.  In Pigot’s trade directory, it shows that Robert Wragg ran a coach service to London from here:


R. Wragg’s coaches from the 3BB







Low Leyton every morn at 9 and 11







Afternoon 3 and 5 and Evening at 7


Reference to the Tithe Map of 1839/40 (below) shows what I take to be stabling at the rear of the inn.  The accompanying terrier to the tithe map makes no mention of any stables and only refers to the inn and gardens.  A couple of doors along, plot 234, stood the Rose and Crown.

[image: image3.jpg]



Tithe Map 1839 (Three Blackbirds Plot 231)


Meanwhile the lease of the old Harwood brewery had passed to Ambrose Proctor, the son of Thomas Proctor.  He sold The Three Blackbirds to the brothers, Thomas Marlborough Pryor and Robert Pryor, owners of the Bell Brew-house, Shoreditch, sometime before 1803.  A Quaker family the Pryors became partners in 1816 along with Thomas Foxwell Buxton, Edward North Buxton and Robert Hanbury, in what was to become London’s largest brewers,  Truman, Hanbury, Buxton & Co. 

Robert Golding was born in Belchamp Walter, a small Essex village near Sudbury c1806.  From marriage to Ann Lidget and they had six children, including two sons, Robert baptised 2nd August 1846 and William baptised 6th July 1848.   The other children were, the eldest son, James baptised 19th September 1841, the eldest daughter, Maria baptised 29th August 1843, a son Alfred baptised 6th April 1845 and the then youngest daughter, Mary Ann baptised 17th March 1859.   Robert Golding had been granted a ten-year lease on 10th June 1847, from Robert Hanbury, this may not have been the first lease or he may have been a tenant without one
.  According to the 1851 Census apart from Robert and Ann there were a total of six children and five adults including his step-son John Lidget.  Robert Golding became the Overseer of the Poor in 1857, shortly before his death, as he was buried on 9th February 1859, aged 54 years.  Prior to this the lease had been renewed for a further ten years, on 10th June 1857, and once again to his widow Ann, on 25th April 1867.  According to the rate book his widow Ann Golding took over payment of the rates in April 1860, although in practice the Three Blackbirds was probably run by her son, John Lidget
.   John Lidget was a cooper by trade.

Another daughter, Emily, had been born in 1858.  Then following the death of her father, Maria Golding died aged 17 years and was buried 25th May 1860.  Then their mother, Mrs Ann Golding died and was buried 4th April 1871, aged 64 years.  Briefly the licence was held jointly by the brothers William and Robert, with Robert taking sole charge in January 1872 until April 1880.

William Golding married Eliza Kate Lee in Romford in 1878, and they had five children including their eldest son, William John born 1879.  1877/8 was the same year that the Three Blackbirds was demolished and rebuilt.  The Rev Robert Bren records in his grangerised copy of Kennedy’s History of the Parish of Leyton, that on more than one occasion the National Schools that stood next door, would have to be closed, with the scholars given a holiday owing to some fair or other causing an influx of “low customers” which might have an adverse effect on the morals of the scholars.  Despite this on the 27th December 1877 a long lease of thirty-one years was granted to the brothers Robert and William Golding.

All that newly erected messuage, tenement or public house called or known by the name or sign of The Three Blackbirds”, situate at Leyton, in Essex.

Robert Golding assigned his half of the lease to William on 8th August 1881, which he held until his death on 1st April 1905.  As executrix of her husband’s will, Eliza Kate Golding was granted a new lease in her own right for fifty years.  A reason for the long lease may be found in the condition that Eliza carry-out certain alterations to the north of the older building.

The last Manorial Court to be held at the Three Blackbirds was on 26th July 1894
.   Sometime in September 1907 a set of twelve used billiard balls were stolen from the Three Blackbirds.  The case did go to the Central Criminal Court on Tuesday 19th November 1907
 and one of the defendants pleaded guilty.  The other defendant was found not guilty when the jury felt they had heard enough for one day and he was discharged.
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THP SPORTSMAN'S RENDEZVOUS

Three Black Birds

HIGH ROAD, LEYTON.
Proprietor: W. dJ. GOLDING.
Headquarters of LEYTON FOOTBALL CLUB, WEST ESSEX
BOWLS CLUB, PRIDE OF LEYTON PIGEON CLUB.

SUMPTIOUS NEW LOUNGE.
“MUSICi+

I'rumMaN HANBURY & BUXTON's BURTON BREWED

BITTER always in good condition.




Advertisement in Leyton Football Club Handbook 1929

William John Golding, better known as “Bill” was a keen sportsman.  In the twenties advertisements for the Three Blackbirds called itself The Sportsman’s Rendezvous, being the headquarters of Leyton Football Club, the West Essex Bowls Club and the Pride of Leyton Pigeon Club.  Bill Golding was Chairman of the newly reformed Leyton Football Club back in 1919, although the Three Blackbirds had been associated with the Football Club when they were first founded as Matlock Swifts in the late 1880s.  The football club rose to become winners of the F A Amateur Cup in 1927 and 1928 and the finest club side of its generation.  

On several occasions the team returned triumphant accompanied by the town band and the local fire engine.  However, they were sailing too close to the wind and had upset the powers that be.  In late September 1928 the club were suspended by the London and Football Associations whilst an enquiry commission was appointed.  One of the outcomes was that the existing football committee under Bill Golding’s chairmanship would have to step down. 

For almost fifty years county cricket had been played on the County Ground and as The Three Blackbirds was the closest public house it was much patronised.  One of Essex’s finest players was Charlie McGahey who had represented the MCC on a tour of Australia in 1902.  McGahey was invited to stay at the pub as a guest of Bill Golding, even helping out behind the bar.  A tall imposing figure he no doubt was responsible for attracting customers who were only too willing to talk cricket.

The last major alteration to the building happened in 1929, when almost an acre of ground from the neighbouring National Schools was added
.  Part of this was used to extend bar area and the remaining three quarters of an acre were laid out as an ornamental garden.  The gardens had lawns, sunken pond and a rustic bridge with electric lighting completing the scene.  When I first knew the Three Blackbirds in the early fifties, my parents, having taken me to the seaside at Southend-on-Sea on the train, would drop in at the pub and sit in these gardens before going back home. I remembered those gardens and to a small child they seemed vast with two islands to hide behind.  They were swept away in the years that followed.
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The Three Blackbirds Summer 2007

Sometime in the eighties Truman’s took it over, then in 1998 it again changed hands when Scottish & Newcastle Brewers took over the Grand Metropolitan pub and brewing business, the owners of Truman's.  Social changes and at the time the proportion of local residents of Pakistani origin had been steadily rising.  Despite the change of owners standards continued to slip.  By 2002, the regular local newspaper feature “Pubwatch” said it was in poor decorative order.  On another occasion the only good thing Captain Pubwatch could find to say about another pub was that it was at least not as bad as The Three Blackbirds.   Attempts to keep the business viable led to karaoke nights, and even women’s mud wrestling, and finally to the opening of the ‘Club Desire’ featuring an African band.  Beer sales dropped off and it looked tired.  In 2004 the lease was transferred to Enterprise Inns, but time was running out.  Its three hundred years of history were about to come to an end.  In 2008 it closed as a public house and was turned into the Taj Banqueting Suite catering for Asian weddings etc.  It has now been demolished as part of the ‘Exchange’ residential development.
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� Not “The” oldest as that is believed to be the Lion & Key which opened in around 1300.


� Jacob Larwood & John Camden Hotten, The History of Signboards from the earliest times to the present day, John Hotten, 1867.


� Now High Road.


� Now Hainault Road.


� Found at the back of the Rate Book for 1704 – 1733.


� John Kennedy The History of the Parish of Leyton, Essex, Phelps Brothers, Leyton, 1894, pp 280.


� ERO D/DB T1594.


� For further information see Frederick Temple Aldermen of London with Leyton Connections, L&LHS 2010.


� Died 12 April 1749.


� John Kennedy The History of the Parish of Leyton, Essex, Phelps Brothers, Leyton, 1894, pp 281.


� John Kennedy The History of the Parish of Leyton, Essex, Phelps Brothers, Leyton, 1894, pp 281.


� I am indebted to Robert Wilkinson for this reference taken from his monumental database of public houses in Waltham Forest part of the Waltham Forest Oral History project.


� John Kennedy The History of the Parish of Leyton, Essex, Phelps Brothers, Leyton, 1894, pp 283.


� Mary Savell, The Three Blackbirds, Leyton – Some Historical Notes, Leyton Public Library, 1964, pp 2.


� John Varley was born 17th August 1778 at the Old Blue Post Tavern, Hackney.


� John Kennedy The History of the Parish of Leyton, Essex, Phelps Brothers, Leyton, 1894, pp 283/4.


� Son of James Golding, deceased, a gardener, and Mary Felton, who were married in Belchamp Walter, Essex in 1804.


� Pigot’s Directory London and Home Counties, 1834.


� Mary Savell, The Three Blackbirds, Leyton – Some Historical Notes, Leyton Public Library, 1964, pp 3.


� John Lidget or Lidgett or Ledgett, born in Clerkenwell


� Mary Savell, The Three Blackbirds, Leyton – Some Historical Notes, Leyton Public Library, 1964, pp3.


� Frederick Temple The Account of the History of the Manor of Leyton (Manuscript held by the Vestry House Museum).


� Old Bailey Proceedings vol. CXLVIII, T1907 1119-53.


� Black Eagle Magazine, volume #1, 4th July 1932.





